THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Judge James B. Jackson, Jr., Master-In-Equity
Trial Court Case No.: 2019-CP-38-00190

RECEIVED

Sep 08 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2020-000433

Shanika Monique Void Respondent

v.

Pine Hill Apartments, L.P. and JDC Management, LLC Defendants
Of whom, Pine Hill Apartments, L.P. is Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Jordan Crapps (SC Bar No. 100580)
Gallivan White & Boyd, PA
1201 Main Street, Suite 1200
Post Office Box 7368 (29202)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 779-1833 (Ofc)
(803) 779-1767 (Fax)
jcrapps@gwblawfirm.com
James M. Dedman, IV (SC Bar No. 70664)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the Trial Court err in determining that Respondent effectuated service of process on Appellant?
2. Did the Trial Court err in determining that filing an Amended Complaint did not moot the entry of default and default judgment entered on the original Complaint?
3. Did the Trial Court err in failing to address Appellant’s arguments under Rules 55 and 60, SCRCP and not providing relief thereunder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Shanika Monique Void (“Void” or “Respondent”) commenced this personal injury action by filing a summons and complaint on February 4, 2019 in the Court of Common Pleas for the

County of Orangeburg. (R., p. 24-27, Compl.). The Complaint alleged that on September 2, 2016, Void slipped and fell on a staircase at the Pine Hill Apartments located at 117 Yellow Jasmine Road, Orangeburg, South Carolina 29115. (Id.).

According to affidavits of service filed by Void in the Court of Common Pleas, Void attempted to serve the Summons and Complaint on Appellant Pine Hill Apartments, L.P. (“Pine Hill” or “Appellant”) by:

(1) Mailing “a copy of the Summons and Complaint via U.S. Postal Mail, certified-Restricted Delivery to Cheryl Finch, Registered Agent for Pine Hill Apartments, L.P., 216 Seven Farms Drive, Suite 210, Charleston S.C. 29492. The Summons and Complaint “was returned by the U.S. Postal Service as Return to Sender, Attempted-Not Known Unable to Forward;” and

(2) Personally serving the Summons and Complaint “by Service on the Property Manager (Brandon Wages) on 2/28/2019 at 12:45 p.m. at his POE¹ located at 117 Yellow Jasmine Road, Orangeburg, S.C. 29115.”

(R., p. 28, Affidavit of Service and R., p. 29, Affidavit of Non-service). Appellant did not receive notice of the summons and complaint (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro) and, therefore, Appellant did not file a responsive pleading or otherwise appear.

Default was entered on May 7, 2019 (R., p. 1, Order of Default) and, upon motion of Respondent, was referred on May 24, 2019, to the Master-In-Equity for a damages hearing. (R., p. 3, Order of referral to Master-in-Equity). Pine Hill did not receive notice of the Damages Hearing (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro) and was not present at the Damages Hearing which was held on June 20, 2019. (R., p. 5, Damages Order). On July 8, 2019, after the

¹ Upon information and belief, Appellant understands this abbreviation to mean Place of Employment.

undefended Damages Hearing, Judge James B. Jackson Jr., awarded Void \$250,000 on “uncontested medical bills of \$6,021.56 and uncontested lost wages of \$2,708.90.” (R., p. 5, Damages Order, pg. 9). Therefore, the award was approximately 29 times the amount of actual damages presented at the uncontested hearing. The only witness at the hearing was Plaintiff. There was no testimony from a treating physician, witness, or expert witness. (R., p. 136-159, Transcript of Hearing; R., p. 5, Order of Damages)

Within ten days of the Damages Order, on July 18, 2019 Pine Hill filed three motions: (1) a Motion to Set Aside Order of Default and Damages Order (R., p. 41, Motion to Set Aside Default), (2) an Emergency Motion to Stay Enforcement of the Judgment (R., p. 35, Motion to Stay Enforcement of Judgment), and (3) a Motion to Alter or Amend the Damages Order (R., p. 37, Motion to Alter or Amend the Damages Order). Only Pine Hill’s Motion to Set Aside Default and Order of Damages was set and heard before Judge Jackson on November 19, 2019. The Parties resolved the emergency Motion to Stay Enforcement by and through the entrance of a Stipulation. The remaining Motion to Alter or Amend the Damages Order remains pending and unresolved.

The Motion to Set Aside was based primarily on the fact that: (1) the attempts at service of the Summons and Complaint on Appellant were improper and could not support entry of default or default judgment (See, R., p. 41, Motion to Set Aside, ¶11(a)); (2) The Trial Court did not have personal jurisdiction over Defendant because it was not properly served (See, R., p. 41, Motion to Set Aside, ¶11(b)); and (3) The default should be set aside pursuant to Rules 55 and 60, SCRCF for good cause, mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, and the judgment is void. The Motion to Set Aside was supported by affidavits from Cheryl Ferraro and Brandon Wages.

Between the filing of Appellant's Motions and the Hearing on the Motion to Set Aside Default, Void voluntarily amended her Complaint on August 19, 2019, and added JDC Management ("JDC Management") as a defendant. (R., p. 56, Amended Complaint). The Amended Complaint altered the allegations against Appellant by leveling them equally against JDC Management. Within fifteen days, on September 3, 2019, Pine Hill filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint. (R., p. 61, Pine Hill Answer to Amended Complaint). JDC Management has also appeared and timely filed an Answer to the Amended Complaint. (R., p. 85, JDC Management Answer to Amended Complaint).

As a result, Pine Hill supplemented its Motion to Set Aside to include the amendment of the complaint as additional grounds to support setting aside default. (R., p. 67, Supplement to Motion to Set Aside Default). Both the original Motion to Set Aside Default and the Supplement to the Motion to Set Aside Default were supported by Pine Hill's Memorandum in Support filed on November 18, 2019. (R., p. 101, Memorandum in Support of Pine Hill's Motions to Set Aside Default).

On November 19, 2019, the hearing on Appellant's Motion to Set Aside was heard by Judge James B. Jackson. Following the hearing, Judge Jackson requested an Order drafted by counsel for Plaintiff. Said Order denying Appellant's Motion to Set Aside was entered on February 10, 2019. (R., p. 15, Order Denying Motion to Set Aside). The Court's Order denied the Motion to Set Aside stating the following grounds:

- (1) "This court finds that Defendant Pine Hill failed to keep the address current of its agent for Service of Process with the Secretary of State. Had they done so, none of this would be a problem yet now Defendant Pine Hill seeks to be relieved from default which is a problem of their own creation."

(2) “Brandon Wages could be perceived to be an agent of Defendant Pine Hill.”

(3) “Defendant Pine Hill is not excused from answering the initial complaint because an amended complaint was filed.”

(R., p. 15, Order Denying Motion to Set Aside). The Order Denying Motion to Set Aside does not address the grounds and arguments presented under Rule 60 or 55. Within ten (10) days thereof, on February 20, 2020, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order denying the Motion to Set Aside. (R., p. 113, Motion to Alter or Amend). The Motion to Alter or Amend addressed several errors of law including but not limited to the Court’s failure to address the Rule 60 and Rule 55 arguments. (R., p. 113, Motion to Alter or Amend). On March 4, 2020, the Court denied the Motion to Alter or Amend in a Form 4 Order stating simply, “Defendant presents no arguments not previously considered by the Court.” (R., p. 20, Order Denying Motion to Alter or Amend). This appeal ensued².

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

According to the Complaint, Plaintiff slipped and fell on a staircase located at the Pine Hill Apartments located at 117 Yellow Jasmine Road, Orangeburg, South Carolina. (R., p. 24, Complaint). As a result of the fall, Plaintiff contends that she suffered damages in the amount of \$6,021.56 of actual medical expense and lost wages of \$2,708.90. (R., p. 8, Damages Order).

The Pine Hill Apartments are owned by Appellant Pine Hill Apartments, L.P. (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). Appellant is a limited partnership with two general partners; HF Pine Hill, LLC and HH Pine Hill, LLC (collectively, HF Pine Hill, LLC and HH Pine Hill, LLC are referred to as the “General Partners”). (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). The Pine Hill

² “The denial of a motion to set aside a default judgment is immediately appealable as it is a final judgment on the merits.” *Palmetto Constr. Grp., LLC v. Restoration Specialists, LLC*, 428 S.C. 261, 265–66, 834 S.E.2d 204, 206 (Ct. App. 2019), reh'g denied (Nov. 15, 2019).

Apartments are managed by a different company, Defendant JDC Management, LLC, pursuant to a Management Agreement. (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). The Management Agreement between Pine Hill Apartments, L.P. and JDC Management, LLC specifically dictates that JDC Management “is not authorized to accept service of process on behalf of [Pine Hill Apartments, L.P.]” (R., p. 49, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro).

Plaintiff attempted to serve the summons and complaint on Appellant Pine Hill pursuant to two methods. First, Plaintiffs attempted service pursuant to certified mail to the agent for service of process. (R., p. 29, Affidavit of Non-Service). The return receipts were not signed and were returned as undeliverable. (R., p. 29, Affidavit of Non-Service).

Next, Plaintiff attempted service of process by personally serving Brandon Wages. (R., p. 28, Affidavit of Service). On the date of alleged service of process, February 28, 2019, Brandon Wages was (and at least as of the date of his affidavit still was) employed by JDC as a maintenance technician. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages). He has never been employed by Pine Hill or any of its General Partners and certainly has not been an officer, managing or general agent of the same. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages and R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). He has never been a “Property Manager” of Pine Hill or any of its General Partners. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages and R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). Specifically, Mr. Wages has never been authorized to accept service of process on behalf of Pine Hill or any of its General Partners. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages and R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). In fact, Mr. Wages is not even authorized to accept service of process on behalf of his own employer, JDC Management. (R., p. 53, Affidavit of Brandon Wages).

Relying on these attempts at service, Plaintiff sought and obtained entry of default and default judgment against Appellant. Other than the affidavits of service, Plaintiff has presented no further evidence regarding service of process, the authority of Brandon Wages to accept service of process on behalf of the Appellant, or the effectiveness of their attempts at service of process.

As a result of the default and the damages hearing, at which Appellant was not present, Judge Jackson awarded Plaintiff \$250,000 on “uncontested medical bills of \$6,021.56 and uncontested lost wages of \$2,708.90.” (R., p. 13, Damages Order). The award was approximately 29 times the amount of actual damages presented at the uncontested hearing. The only witness at the hearing was Plaintiff. There was no testimony from a treating physician, witness, or expert witness. Appellant’s Motion to Alter or Amend this Damages Order and contesting its constitutionality, appropriateness, legality and its validity is still pending and has not been heard.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Typically, “[t]he decision whether to set aside an entry of default or a default judgment lies solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge.” *Roberson*, 365 S.C. at 9, 615 S.E.2d at 114. (citing, *Thompson v. Hammond*, 299 S.C. 116, 119, 382 S.E.2d 900, 902-03 (1989)). That decision “will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of an abuse of that discretion. *Id.* “An abuse of discretion in setting aside a default judgment occurs when the judge issuing the order was controlled by some error of law or when the order, based upon factual, as distinguished from legal conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

The Trial Court's decisions should be reversed. The Trial Court was in error when it determined it had personal jurisdiction over Defendant to issue its orders. Further, the Trial Court erred in determining not to set aside default despite the defects in service. Further, the Trial Court erred in determining that the Amended Complaint did not moot the previous complaint and render the entry of default and the default judgment void as a matter of law. Finally, the Trial Court erred in ignoring the Appellant's substantive arguments under Rules 55 and 60, SCRPC regarding mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, and that the judgment is void.

I. Service of Process was not effectuated and therefore, the Trial Court did not have personal jurisdiction over Appellant, and the entry of default, default judgment, and the Order of Damages are all void and should be set aside.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure require service of process of a summons and complaint pursuant to Rule 4. "Rule 4 serves at least two purposes: it confers personal jurisdiction on the court and assures the defendant reasonable notice of the action." *Richardson v. P.V., Inc.*, 383 S.C. 610, 615, 682 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2009) (citing, *Roche v. Young Bros., Inc. of Florence*, 318 S.C. 207, 209, 456 S.E.2d 897, 899 (1995)). "The Plaintiff has the burden to establish that the court has personal jurisdiction over the defendant." *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 523 473 S.E.2d 64, 66 (Ct. App. 1996). While exacting compliance is not required, "inquiry must be made as to whether the plaintiff has sufficiently complied with the rules such that the court has personal jurisdiction of the defendant and the defendant has notice of the proceedings." *Id.*

A. Attempted Service of Process by Certified Mail cannot support default where, as here, there is no return receipt with an authorized signature.

Plaintiff's attempt to serve Appellant by certified mail cannot be the basis for the entry of default in this case. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides for service of the

summons and complaint by registered certified mail, return receipt requested and delivery restricted to the addressee. Rule 4(d)(8), SCRCF. However, service pursuant to this provision “shall not be the basis for the entry of a default or a judgment by default unless the record contains a return receipt showing the acceptance by the defendant.” *Id.* As Rule 4 states, “If delivery of process is refused or is returned undelivered, service shall be made as otherwise provided by these rules.” Rule 4(d)(8), SCRCF.

As admitted by Plaintiff, the certified mail was not signed for by anyone and certainly not signed by an authorized representative of the defendant. (R., p. 29, Affidavit of Non-Service). Rather, the certified mail “was returned by the U.S. Postal Service as Return to Sender, Attempted-Not Known Unable to Forward.” (R., p. 29, Affidavit of Non-Service). Therefore, pursuant to the specific language of Rule 4, without a signature, Plaintiff’s attempts to serve the summons and complaint by certified mail cannot be the basis for the entry of default. Any reliance on this method of service of process would be in error.

B. Attempted Service of Process on Brandon Wages is insufficient because Brandon Wages is not an officer, a managing or general agent of Appellant, and is not otherwise authorized by appointment or law to receive service of process on Appellant’s behalf

The only other attempt to serve the summons and complaint on Appellant was “by Service on the Property Manager (Brandon Wages) on 2/28/2019 at 12:45 p.m. at his POE located at 117 Yellow Jasmine Road, Orangeburg, S.C. 29115.” (R., p. 28, Affidavit of Service). As noted above, on February 28, 2019, Mr. Wages was employed by a separate company, JDC Management, as a maintenance technician. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages). Mr. Wages has never been employed by or an officer, managing or general agent of Appellant. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages). Mr. Wages has never been a “property manager” for Appellant as

alleged in the Affidavit of Service. (R., p. 52, Affidavit of Brandon Wages). JDC Management manages the Pine Hill Apartments pursuant to a Management Agreement with Appellant. (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). That Management Agreement specifically states that JDC Management “is not authorized to accept service of process on behalf of [Appellant].” (R., p. 48, Affidavit of Cheryl Ferraro). At no time has Mr. Wages or JDC Management ever been authorized to accept service of process on behalf of Appellant.

The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provides for service of process upon a corporation or partnership “by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent, or to any other agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive service of process ...” Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCPP. In order to be effective, service must be made on an actual agent. *Brown v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.A.*, 348 S.C. 569, 583–84, 560 S.E.2d 624, 631 (Ct. App. 2001). More specifically, “[s]ervice on a corporation may only be accomplished by service upon an authorized person.” *Langley v. Graham*, 322 S.C. 428, 430, 472 S.E.2d 259, 260, fn 2 (Ct. App. 1996). In fact, without specific authorization to receive process, service is not even effective when made “upon an employee of the defendant such as a secretary.” *Moore*, 322 S.C. at 523-24, 473 S.E.2d 64, 67.

Here, Plaintiff has not served an officer or a managing or general agent of Appellant. In fact, Mr. Wages is not even employed by the Defendant in any capacity. Further, Mr. Wages is not authorized by appointment or law to accept service on behalf of Appellant. In fact, the management agreement between his employer and Appellant specifically dictates that he is not authorized to accept service for Appellant. In other words, neither Mr. Wages nor his employer JDC Management had authority to accept service and are specifically not “authorized by appointment or law” to accept service as is required pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of

Civil Procedure. (See, Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCPP). For this reason alone, the Trial Court’s findings are in error and should be reversed.

However, because neither Mr. Wages nor his employer JDC had actual authority to accept service of process as required by Rule 4, SCRCPP, the Trial Court and Plaintiff attempt to ground service of process on a “perceived” agency theory. The Trial Court held:

Furthermore, per the affidavits and arguments presented by Defendant Pine Hill, the new defendant JDC Management, LLC seems to have a very close relationship with Defendant Pine Hill. JDC manages the property owned by this Defendant and both have the same agent for Service of Process, although JDC provided the Secretary of State with a new, correct address. Therefore, Brandon Wages **could be perceived to be an agent of Defendant Pine Hill.**³

(R., p. 15, Order denying Motion to Set Aside) (emphasis added). This is not sufficient to find effective service of process.

“Whether apparent authority can suffice to show authorization to accept service under Rule 4 is an unsettled question.” *Roberson*, 365 S.C. at 11, 615 S.E.2d 112, 115. Rather, “[a]ctual appointment for the specific purpose of receiving process normally is expected and the mere fact that a person may be considered to act as defendant’s agent for some purpose does not necessarily mean that the person has authority to receive process.” *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 295, 721 S.E.2d 430, 433 (2012) (quoting, *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 473 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App. 1996)). Rule 4(d)(3) specifies very detailed and specific categories of “agents” capable of accepting service. Rule 4(d)(3) does not specify those who “could be perceived to be an agent.”

³ Appellant finds no law supporting a theory of “perceived” agency in South Carolina, nor did the Trial Court cite any. Appellant interprets this to allude to apparent agency. To the extent the Trial Court is indeed relying on “perceived” agency theory, the inquiry should cease here and the Trial Court should be overturned.

A rule permitting certain persons to receive service of process on behalf of others does not imply that “anyone who happens to pick up the mail” can stand in for the defendant. As with corporations, the class of persons who may receive service of process on behalf of an individual is limited.

Graham Law Firm, 396 S.C. at 297, 721 S.E.2d 430, 434.

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