THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 25 2020

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
James B. Jackson, Jr., Master in Equity

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2020-000433

Shanika Monique Void,..... Respondent,

v.

Pine Hill Apartments, L.P., and JDC Management, LLC,.....Defendants,

Of which Pine Hill Apartments, L.P., is the.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854
BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC
P.O. Box 897
Hampton, SC 29924
803-943-4529

Charlie Hiram Williams, III
David Reynolds Williams
Virginia Watson Williams
WILLIAMS & WILLIAMS
1281 Russell Street
Orangeburg, SC 29115
803-534-5218

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

ARGUMENT

The lower court correctly denied Pine Hill’s motion to set aside the entry of default and to vacate the judgment, and this Court should affirm because Pine Hill fails to satisfy its burden of showing the court’s decision is without evidentiary support or controlled by an error of law.

I. THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD VOID PROPERLY SERVED PINE HILL

The lower court’s holding that Void properly served Pine Hill by personal service on Wages is supported by the evidence and not controlled by an error of law.² (R. p. 17). This Court should affirm.

Service on a corporation is governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 15-9-210 (1976) which provides for service on a corporation’s registered agent but also specifies that service may be accomplished as allowed under Rule 4, SCRPC. § 15-9-210(d) (“This section does not prescribe the only means, or necessarily the required means, of service a domestic business or nonprofit corporation.”); S.C. Code Ann. § 33-5-104 (2006), South Carolina Reporters’ Cmt. (“[T]he revised statute states that the company can be served by any other proper means. In this regard, attention is directed to South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 4(d)(3)”). Under Rule 4(d)(3), SCRPC, a plaintiff may serve a corporation “by delivering a copy of the summons and complaint to an officer, a managing or general agent, or to any other agent authorized by appointment or by law to receive

² Pine Hill argues that Void’s attempted but unsuccessful service on it by certified mail cannot support default. (Br. of App. pp. 10-11). Void does not dispute that contention, and the lower court did not find make that finding. (R. pp. 16-17). The lower court only noted that Void did actually try to serve Pine Hill by its registered agent and Pine Hill’s failure to comply with statutory law requiring it to update its registered agent information was the reason Void needed to attempt personal service. *Id.* The Court need not consider or rule on this issue on appeal.

service of process.” “No case has been found in South Carolina defining ‘managing agent’ under Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCF.” *Schenk v. Nat’l Health Care*, 322 S.C. 316, 320, 471 S.E.2d 736, 738 (Ct. App. 1996). It is determined based on the particular circumstances of each case.

Pine Hill argues that Wages was not a managing agent under Rule 4(d)(3) and, therefore, service on him was improper. Pine Hill argues Wages was employed by JDC Management (not Pine Hill) and is a maintenance technician not authorized to accept service for either entity. (Br. of App. pp. 11-12). These facts are not dispositive of service under these circumstances, and the lower court correctly held that service on Wages was proper service on Pine Hill.

The court “considered the argument that Brandon Wages was not Defendant Pine Hill’s manager or even their employee.” (R. p. 17). It found proper service regardless of those facts and noted Ferraro and Wages’ affidavits do not address that the process server’s affidavit of service indicates Wages is the “property manager” of Pine Hill, and Wages did not explain what he did with the summons and complaint. (R. p. 17). These findings are supported by the evidence and the law.

That Wages was not employed by Pine Hill is not dispositive because corporations commonly designate and authorize agents to accept service of process who are not employed by them, *see, e.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-5-101 (2006), Official Cmt. (“Corporation service companies often provide, as a commercial service, registered offices and registered agents at the office of the corporation service company.”), and an agent does not have to be a principal’s employee to have an agency relationship, *see, e.g., Newell v. Trident Med. Ctr.*, 359 S.C. 4, 14, 597 S.E.2d 776, 781 (2004) (holding a hospital may be liable “for non-employee physician negligence” if the physician is its apparent agent).

That Wages was not Pine Hill's "property manager" is not dispositive under these circumstances. The court found Ferraro and Wages' affidavits "fail to address the process server's Affidavit of Service which indicates Brandon Wages was the manager of this defendant." (R. p. 17). This failure is significant. Void is not omniscient and cannot be expected to know the inner managerial workings of Pine Hill. Once Pine Hill failed to comply with statutory law requiring it to maintain accurate registered agent information on file with the Secretary of State, Void was left with no choice but to attempt personal service. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 33-5-102 (2006); S.C. Code Ann. § 33-5-101, Official Cmt. ("The requirements that a corporation continuously maintain a registered office and a registered agent at that office are based on the premises that at all times a corporation should have an office where it may be found and a person at that office on whom any notice or process required or permitted by law may be served."). Void previously sent legal correspondence to the same address where she served Wages. (R. pp. 170, 175-76, 178). In response to those prior letters which Pine Hill actually received, it did not respond or direct her to send correspondence elsewhere. (R. pp. 170, 178). The process server returned an affidavit showing proper service on a property manager. (R. p. 28). Wages appeared as its managing agent by his presence and appearance as an employee at the same location where Pine Hill previously received legal correspondence. *See Schenk v. Nat'l Health Care*, 322 S.C. 316, 317-20, 471 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 1996) (finding valid service of process where plaintiff served office manager who told the process server that the registered agent retired but assured him that she could accept service); *Renney v. Dobbs House, Inc.*, 275 S.C. 562, 564-65, 274 S.E.2d 290, 291 (1981) (finding service on an assistant restaurant manager sufficient even though the corporation had a registered agent). Void complied with Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCF, and "[w]hen the civil rules on service are

followed, there is a presumption of proper service.” *Roche v. Young Bros.*, 318 S.C. 207, 211, 456 S.E.2d 897, 900 (1995) (internal quotation marks omitted).

Pine Hill argues that service on Wages is not proper because service must be made on an “actual agent” who is an “authorized person.” (Br. of App. p. 12). This case is distinguishable from those cited by Pine Hill. In *Brown v. Carolina Emergency Physicians, P.A.*, 348 S.C. 569, 560 S.E.2d 624 (Ct. App. 2001), the defendant was a group of independent emergency room doctors that provided services to Greenville Memorial Hospital and maintained no physical office. The process server went to the hospital and served a woman who “indicated she was the manager of” the defendant. *Id.* at 583, 560 S.E.2d at 631. The Court of Appeals found service was ineffective because the defendant provided affidavits stating the woman “was an employee of the hospital and was not authorized to accept service on behalf of” the defendant. *Id.* It stated “there must be evidence the defendant intended to confer” authority to accept service. *Id.* at 584, 560 S.E.2d at 632.

In *Moore v. Simpson*, 322 S.C. 518, 473 S.E.2d 64 (Ct. App. 1996), the plaintiff served a legal malpractice action against a lawyer and his law firm by serving the law firm secretary. The Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court’s decision to quash service because there was evidence to support the finding that the secretary lacked authority to accept service. *Id.* at 524, 473 S.E.2d at 67. The secretary “denied she was ever made aware that [the process server] was attempting to serve a summons and complaint.” *Id.*

In this case, unlike in *Brown* and *Moore*, there is evidence to support the lower court’s finding that Pine Hill intended to confer authority to accept service on a physically-present employee who receives correspondence at 117 Yellow Jasmine Road, Orangeburg, South Carolina, based on Void’s prior legal correspondence to that address. In *Brown*, unlike in this

case, the plaintiff served the defendant at a hospital that was not its physical office location. In *Moore*, unlike in this case, the person who received service expressly denied knowing that she was accepting a summons and complaint.

Pine Hill argues there is no apparent agency. (Br. of App. pp. 14-19). “The elements of apparent agency are: (1) purported principal consciously or impliedly represented another to be his agent; (2) third party reasonably relied on the representation; and (3) third party detrimentally changed his or her position in reliance on the representation.” *R & G Constr., Inc. v. Lowcountry Reg’l Transp. Auth.*, 343 S.C. 424, 433, 540 S.E.2d 113, 118 (Ct. App. 2000). The elements are met in this case because, as explained below, Pine Hill represented Wages as an on-site employee in the management office by consciously allowing him to interact with the public on its behalf, the process server and Void reasonably relied on that representation, and Void detrimentally changed her position in reliance on the representation by believing service on Wages was valid only to have Pine Hill challenge it.

After finding sufficient evidence that service on Wages complied with Rule 4(d)(3), SCRCPP, the lower court found JDC Management (Wages’ employer) and Pine Hill “seem[] to have a very close relationship” because JDC Management manages Pine Hill Apartments and “both have the same agent for Service of Process” such that “Wages could be perceived to be an agent of Defendant Pine Hill.” (R. p. 17). Pine Hill takes issue with the court’s use of the word “perceived”³ (Br. of App. p. 13 n.3) but acknowledges that the court found Wages had apparent authority. *Id.* Pine Hill challenges this finding on the bases that (1) its management agreement

³ The lower court did not base its decision on a “theory of ‘perceived’ agency” but, as discussed below, it recognized that what a person dealing with an agent is led to believe is relevant to apparent agency. *Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 297, 468 S.E.2d 292, 296 (1996).

with JDC Management states that JDC management is not authorized to accept service on behalf of Pine Hill and (2) Wages' representation to the process server that he was a property manager cannot support apparent authority. (Br. of App. pp. 14-15; R. p. 49). Both arguments are without merit.

As to the prohibition on acceptance of service in the management agreement,⁴ South Carolina law plainly states this is not dispositive. "A true agency relationship may be established by showing evidence of apparent or implied authority, *even where the parties have entered an agreement to the contrary.*" *Fernander v. Thigpen*, 278 S.C. 140, 143, 293 S.E.2d 424, 426 (1982) (emphasis added). This makes sense given that a person dealing with Pine Hill or JDC Management is unlikely to know the terms of the management agreement. *See Rickborn v. Liberty Life Ins. Co.*, 321 S.C. 291, 297, 468 S.E.2d 292, 296 (1996) ("Those dealing with such an agent, *without notice of restrictions upon his authority*, have a right to presume that his authority is coextensive with its apparent scope, and as broad as his title indicates." (emphasis in original)).

"[A]pparent authority focuses on the principal's manifestation to a third party that the agent has certain authority." *Id.* at 297, 468 S.E.2d at 296. "Accordingly, the principal is bound by the acts of its agent when it places the agent in such a position that persons of ordinary prudence, reasonably knowledgeable with business usages and customs, are led to believe that the agent has certain authority and they in turn deal with the agent based upon that assumption." *Id.* Void's process server believed, based on his knowledge of business usages and customs in a career serving legal process, that Wages had authority to accept service for Pine Hill. By employing JDC Management as its property manager, Pine Hill placed JDC Management's employees acting on

⁴ Pine Hill inserted its name into the management agreement quotation about not being authorized to accept service and did not submit the agreement to the court to review. (R. p. 49). There is no evidence of the actual language of the agreement.

Pine Hill's behalf in the management office of an apartment complex in a position of authority to accept service of process. The process server did not know Pine Hill employed a separate management company or that Wages was not employed by Pine Hill. Rather, when he went to ***Pine Hill*** apartments to serve a summons and complaint on Pine Hill and Wages was present on the property working on behalf of Pine Hill to ***manage*** the property, this led to the process server's reasonable belief that Wages could accept service for Pine Hill, and the process server dealt with Wages based upon that assumption. Pine Hill cannot engage JDC Management to manage its property and then disavow any authority of JDC Management's employees to act on its behalf.

As to Pine Hill's argument that Wages' representation to the process server that he was a property manager cannot support apparent authority, the court did not rely solely on that basis for its ruling (R. pp. 16-17) and, regardless, the representation is some evidence of apparent authority. While apparent agency is based on conduct of the principal, that conduct is not so limited as Pine Hill argues. (Br. of App. p. 15). A principal may create apparent authority "by written or spoken words or any other conduct of the principal which, reasonably interpreted, causes the third person to believe the principal consents to have the act done on his behalf by the person purporting to act for him." *Genovese v. Bergeron*, 327 S.C. 567, 571, 490 S.E.2d 608, 610 (Ct. App. 1997) (internal quotation marks omitted) (emphasis in original). "The principal must either intend to cause the third person to believe the agent is authorized to act for him, or he should realize his conduct is likely to create such belief." *Id.* at 571, 490 S.E.2d at 610 (emphasis in original). In *Genovese*, the court found a landlord's property manager had apparent authority to release the tenant from the lease where the landlord always dealt with the tenant through the manager. *Id.*

In this case, Pine Hill should realize its conduct of employing a management company with employees on site without open disclosure of their employer is likely to create the belief that such

an employee working in the management office is authorized to accept service for Pine Hill. *See Langdale v. Harris Carpets*, 395 S.C. 194, 201, 717 S.E.2d 80, 83 (Ct. App. 2011) (“Agency may be implied or inferred and may be proved circumstantially by the conduct of the purported agent exhibiting a pretense of authority with the knowledge of the alleged principal.”). “[C]itizens [such as Pine Hill] are presumed to know the law and are charged with exercising reasonable care to protect their interests.” *Ahrens v. State*, 392 S.C. 340, 355, 709 S.E.2d 54, 62 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). Pine Hill is charged with knowledge that, when it failed to maintain accurate registered agent information with the Secretary of State, a plaintiff could attempt personal service at the apartment complex where JDC Management employees conducted business on its behalf.

Pine Hill cites to two cases as supposed instances in which the Supreme Court “addressed and resolved this very same issue.” (Br. of App. pp. 16). Pine Hill is incorrect.

In *Roberson v. Southern Finance of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 615 S.E.2d 112 (2005), the plaintiff served the defendant corporation by certified mail with return receipt requested addressed to the registered agent. *Id.* at 8, 615 S.E.2d at 114. Instead of the registered agent, a “clerical employee” signed the return receipt. *Id.* The Supreme Court found this insufficient service because the defendant corporation did not manifest the clerical employee as its apparent agent. *Id.* at 11, 615 S.E.2d at 115.

In *Graham Law Firm, P.A. v. Makawi*, 396 S.C. 290, 721 S.E.2d 430 (2012), the plaintiff served the individual and corporate defendants by certified mail with return receipt requested, restricted delivery, to the individual defendant, who was the president of the corporate defendant. *Id.* at 293, 721 S.E.2d at 431-32. The defendants submitted an affidavit stating neither the bookkeeper who signed for the individual defendant nor the woman who signed for the corporate

defendant (that it never employed and had never heard of) were authorized to accept service. *Id.* at 293, 721 S.E.2d at 432. The Supreme Court affirmed the lower court’s finding of insufficient service based on the defendants’ affidavits that the signatories lacked authority and the absence of evidence that they had authority. *Id.* at 298, 721 S.E.2d at 434.

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